

BRIEFING PAPER

Number 07236, 23 April 2019

Careers guidance in schools, colleges and universities

By Robert Long and Sue Hubble

Inside:

- 1. Careers guidance in schools and further education colleges
- 2. How well are schools and colleges discharging their duties?
- 3. Careers guidance in higher education
- 4. Key organisations

Contents

Introduction		3
1.	Careers guidance in schools and further education	_
1 1	colleges	4
1.1 1.2	Requirements on schools Careers guidance in further education colleges	4
1.3	Jobcentre plus employment advisers: 14-17 year olds	5
1.4	Advice about technical education and apprenticeships	5 5 6
	Previously planned legislation	6
	Technical and Further Education Act 2017	
1.5	Northern Powerhouse	6 7 7
1.6	DfE Careers Strategy	7
	Announcement	7
	Publication Fundamental Management (October 2018)	8
	Expanded measures (October 2018)	9
2.	How well are schools and colleges discharging their	
	duties?	10
2.1	Secretary of State's December 2014 statement and	4.0
2.2	announcement of the Careers and Enterprise Company	10
2.2 2.3	Education Select Committee report (January 2013)	11 12
2.3	Education Select Committee: follow-up (January 2015) Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy inquiry	12
۷.٦	(2015-16)	12
2.5	National Careers Council Report (June 2013)	13
2.6	Ofsted comment 2013-16 and inspection framework	15
	Ofsted inspection framework	15
	Thematic review and Government response (2013)	15
	Sir Michael Wilshaw comment (2015)	16
2 7	Getting Ready for Work report (2016)	16
2.7 2.8	British Chambers of Commerce survey (November 2015) City and Guilds report (November 2015)	16 17
2.9	DfE research brief: mapping careers provision in England	17
	All-Party Parliamentary Group report (January 2017)	17
	Gatsby Foundation report: international comparisons	18
	Careers and Enterprise Company: State of the Nation 2018	18
3.	Careers guidance in higher education	19
4.	Key organisations	21
4.1	National Careers Service	21
	Economic Evaluation of the NCS	21
4.2	Careers and Enterprise Company	22
	Sutton Trust report recommendation	23

Contributing authors:

Robert Long, schools and further education policy

Sue Hubble, higher education policy

Cover page image copyright: Photo 29/365: Back to work by James Robinson. Licensed under <u>CC BY 2.0</u> / image cropped.

Introduction

Overview

Since September 2013, local authority-maintained schools in England have been under a duty to provide impartial careers guidance to pupils from years 8 to 13 (ages 12-18). The Department for Education has published <u>statutory guidance</u> (most recently updated in October 2018) for maintained schools on their duty to provide careers guidance.

Many academies and free schools are subject to the duties relating to careers guidance through their funding agreements, including those which opened from September 2012 onwards and those which have moved to an updated funding agreement. Academies without the requirement are encouraged to follow the guidance as a statement of good practice.

All further education (FE) colleges and sixth form colleges have been required to secure access to independent careers guidance from September 2013. This requirement is part of FE college and sixth form college funding agreements. The Department for Education has published <u>quidance</u> for FE and sixth form colleges to draw on in fulfilling this duty.

The quality of careers advice has come in for frequent criticism, and recent governments have made several reforms, including the establishment of the National Careers Service and the Careers and Enterprise Company (CEC), aimed at improving the quality and range of careers advice on offer. Higher education institutions are not required to provide careers advice, but nonetheless this service is offered across institutions.

DfE Careers Strategy

The Department for Education's <u>Careers strategy</u> was published in December 2017. It set out a series of measures to be implemented during 2018-20 to improve careers guidance in England, including new benchmarks for careers education, an investment fund for disadvantaged pupils, and a named Careers Leader in every school and college.

1. Careers guidance in schools and further education colleges

1.1 Requirements on schools

In September 2012 local authority maintained schools became subject to a statutory duty to provide impartial careers guidance to pupils in years 9 to 11. In September 2013, the statutory duty on schools was expanded to cover pupils in school years 8 (12-13 year olds) to 13 (17-18 year olds). There have been other connected reforms, including the disbanding of the Connexions service at the national level, and the establishment of a National Careers Service (NCS) in April 2012.

The Department for Education has published statutory guidance (most recently updated in October 2018) for maintained schools on their duty to provide careers guidance.¹

All academies and free schools are subject to a new duty to provide pupils with access to a range of education and training providers. Many academies and free schools are subject to the duty to provide independent careers guidance through their funding agreements, including those which opened from September 2012 and those which have moved to the updated funding agreement. Academies without the requirement are encouraged to follow the guidance in any case as a statement of good practice.2

The statutory guidance provides the following overview the duty on maintained schools:

- 1. Section 42A of the Education Act 1997 requires governing bodies to ensure that all registered pupils at the school are provided with independent careers guidance from year 8 (12-13 year olds) to year 13 (17-18 year olds).
- 2. The governing body must ensure that the independent careers guidance provided:
- is presented in an impartial manner, showing no bias or favouritism towards a particular institution, education or work option;
- includes information on the range of education or training options, including apprenticeships and technical education routes;
- is guidance that the person giving it considers will promote the best interests of the pupils to whom it is given.
- 3. The Technical and Further Education Act 2017 inserts section 42B into the Education Act 1997 and came into force on 2 January 2018. This new law requires the proprietor of all schools and academies to ensure that there is an opportunity for a range of education and training providers to access all pupils in year 8 to year 13 for the purpose of informing them about approved technical education qualifications 13 or apprenticeships.

Ibid., p4 (fn)

Department for Education, Careers guidance and access for education and training providers, October 2018

- 4. The proprietor must prepare a policy statement setting out the circumstances in which education and training providers will be given access to pupils, and to ensure that this is followed. The policy statement must be published and must include:
- any procedural requirement in relation to requests for access;
- grounds for granting and refusing requests for access;
- details of premises or facilities to be provided to a person who is given access.
- 5. The proprietor may revise the policy statement from time to time. The proprietor must publish the policy statement and any revised statement.³

The revised guidance published in October 2018 incorporates the requirements of the DfE's Careers Strategy (see section 1.6).

1.2 Careers guidance in further education colleges

Following a public consultation in 2012 on extending access to careers guidance, all further education (FE) colleges and sixth form colleges have been subject to a requirement to secure access to independent careers guidance from September 2013. This requirement is part of FE college and sixth form college funding agreements.⁴

The Department for Education has published <u>guidance</u> for FE and sixth form colleges to draw on in fulfilling this duty.⁵

1.3 Jobcentre plus employment advisers: 14-17 year olds

In the <u>Summer Budget 2015</u>, the Government announced the creation of a new Jobcentre plus employment advisor role, working with schools and sixth-form colleges to help improve young people's ability to find work. The new provision, aimed at 14-17 year olds, will start in Birmingham. It is intended to then expand to the wider Greater Birmingham and Solihull area, and subsequently more widely.⁶

A measure to provide Jobcentre plus advisor support in schools across England to supplement careers advice, and provide routes into work experience and apprenticeships, had previously been announced alongside the Queen's Speech in May 2015. However, no legislative measure was included in the subsequently published *Welfare Reform and Work Bill*.

The issue was raised during a <u>debate</u> on education and employment opportunities in the House of Lords on 22 October 2015.⁸ Baroness

³ Ibid., p10-11

⁴ DfE, <u>Securing Independent Careers Guidance: Guidance for General Further Education Colleges and Sixth Form Colleges</u>, October 2018

⁵ Ibid, p5

⁶ HM Treasury, <u>Summer Budget 2015</u>, p80

⁷ The Queen's Speech 2015 Briefing Notes, p15

⁸ HL Deb 22 Oct 2015 c815-851

Evans subsequently wrote to Lord McKenzie to state that Jobcentre plus support would start in Birmingham in November 2015, and extended to nine further pathfinder projects during this academic year. Full rollout across England was to be completed by March 2017.9

1.4 Advice about technical education and apprenticeships

Previously planned legislation

In January 2016, the then Education Secretary Nicky Morgan announced that the Government would legislate to require schools to ensure nonacademic routes received "equal airtime" with academic routes in schools career advice. Schools would be required by law to collaborate with colleges, university technical colleges and other training providers to ensure this was done. 10

The announcement indicated that legislation would be brought forward "at the earliest opportunity," with further information to be provided in the careers strategy.

Technical and Further Education Act 2017

In February 2017, Lord Baker tabled an amendment to the *Technical* and Further Education Bill during its Committee Stage in the House of Lords. The amendment would require schools to allow proprietors of other educational bodies to "access registered pupils during the relevant phase of their education for the purpose of informing them about approved technical education qualifications or apprenticeships." 11

Lord Baker stated that if passed the amendment would require significant support from the Government in its implementation:

[E]very word of the clause is needed because the clause is going to be met with great hostility in every school in the country. They are going to be required, by September, to produce a policy for implementing a right for people to come and tell them about other competitive sources of learning and training. It will require all the resources of the department and the powers of the Secretary of State to ensure that this happens, so that in September and October of this year we should have providers going into all the schools. 12

The Schools Minister, Lord Nash, welcomed the amendment:

I agree that it would strengthen the Bill by promoting technical education and apprenticeship opportunities more effectively so that young people can make more informed and confident choices at important transition points. 13

Letter from Baroness Evans to Lord McKenzie, 2 November 2015. Available as Deposited Paper in House of Lords Library <u>DEP2015-0833</u>

Department for Education, New law will end 'outdated snobbery' towards apprenticeships, 25 January 2016

¹¹ See <u>Amendment 11</u> to the Bill in the Lords.

¹² HL Deb 22 Feb 2017 c73 GC

¹³ HL Deb 22 Feb 2017 c70 GC

The amendment was agreed without a vote. 14 It became law as section 2 of the *Technical and Further Education Act 2017*. The provisions came into force on 2 January 2018.

1.5 Northern Powerhouse

The Northern Powerhouse Strategy published in November 2016 set out how the Government intended to approach careers guidance in the North of England:

The government will work with the North to ensure that local priorities are fed into the provision of careers advice, so that it is employer led, integrated and meets local needs.

This will involve joint working on the design of careers and enterprise provision for all ages, including collaboration on the work of the Careers and Enterprise Company and the National Careers Service. Where the government is piloting new approaches to careers advice and guidance, we will ensure areas in the North have the opportunity to be part of any trials taking place. 15

1.6 DfE Careers Strategy

Announcement

In December 2015, the then Education and Childcare Minister Sam Gyimah, made a speech to the Westminster Employment Forum where he set out that the Department for Education would publish a careers strategy "in the coming weeks," and that:

We feel that a period of consistency and stability for this sector will have greater impact than major structural reform.

[...]

By 2020 we want a system where young people (and their parents/carers) have timely access to the information and data they need to make informed decisions on their education, training and employment options, including a clear understanding of routes into technical and professional education and apprenticeships. 16

In <u>response</u> to a Parliamentary Question in January 2016, Sam Gyimah said that the strategy would be published in the spring.¹⁷ The education white paper, Educational Excellence Everywhere, published by the Department for Education in March, stated that the strategy would follow later in 2016. 18 The Government was subsequently criticised by the Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy in November 2016 as the strategy had still not been published (see section 5.2).

¹⁴ HL Deb 22 Feb 2017 c92 GC

¹⁵ HM Treasury, Northern Powerhouse Strategy, November 2016, p14

¹⁶ Department for Education, <u>Sam Gyimah: where next for careers education and</u> guidance?, 3 December 2015

PQ 23416 [Vocational Guidance: Standards], 27 January 2016

¹⁸ Department for Education, Educational Excellence Everywhere, March 2016, p94

The Government's **Industrial Strategy Green Paper**, published in January 2017, stated that the careers strategy would now be published later in 2017.19

Publication

The <u>Careers strategy</u> was published in December 2017. It set out a series of measures to be implemented 2018-20 to improve careers guidance in England, a full table of which is set out on pages 8-9 of the strategy. Some of the key measures are summarised here. ²⁰

The strategy announced that **new statutory guidance** on careers advice would be published in January 2018 (the statutory guidance was recently updated in October 2018), setting out how to meet the Gatsby Foundation benchmarks for excellence in careers education. The benchmarks are:

- A stable careers programme
- Learning from career and labour market information
- Addressing the needs of each student
- Linking curriculum learning to careers
- Encounters with employers and employees
- Experiences of workplaces
- Encounters with further and higher education
- Personal guidance

The statutory guidance provides detail on these benchmarks and how schools can meet them (see pages 7-9).

Also from January 2018, Ofsted would be required to **comment in college inspection reports** on the careers guidance provided to young people.

By September 2018, under the strategy the Careers and Enterprise Company (CEC) would launch a **new investment fund** of £5 million to support the most disadvantaged pupils.²¹ Schools and colleges would be expected to publish details of their careers programme for young people and their parents, and a named Careers Leader should lead the careers programme in every school and college. **20 careers hubs** would be funded by Government and supported by a coordinator from the CEC.

The strategy set out the intention that during 2018 and 2019, the CEC would triple to 150 the number of 'cornerstone' employers committing to work with schools and colleges across the country, including Opportunity Areas.²² Training for 500 Careers Leaders would be funded for 500 schools and colleges. **New approaches to careers provision** would also be tested and evaluated, to:

encourage young people, especially girls, to consider jobs in science, technology, engineering and maths;

¹⁹ HM Government, <u>Building our Industrial Strategy</u>, January 2017, p48

²⁰ Department for Education, <u>Careers strategy: making the most of everyone's skills</u> and talents, December 2017

²¹ Careers and Enterprise Company, <u>Careers and Enterprise Fund 2018</u>

The DfE is aiming to increase social mobility in 12 selected Opportunity Areas which face particular challenges. It has published information on current progress.

- understand what careers activities work well in primary schools;
- improve careers information, advice and guidance for young people and adults who are disadvantaged or vulnerable

By the end of 2020, the strategy intends that **all schools and colleges** will have access to an Enterprise Adviser. Schools should also offer every young person seven encounters with employers, including STEM employers (at least one each year from years 7 to 13), with support from the CEC.

Discussion

Labour's shadow skills Minister, Gordon Marsden, has raised concerns about the financial support being provided to the strategy, in particular the money committed for careers leaders, describing it as "frighteningly small." ²³

On the day the strategy was published, the Chair of the Education Committee, Robert Halfon, gave a speech that advocated linking careers and skills advice, and that the Government should "avoid the duplication of the National Careers Service, Careers Enterprise Company and the like, and reallocate the many millions of pounds that go to careers and create a one-stop shop of a National Skills Service." ²⁴

Expanded measures (October 2018)

During Conservative Party conference in October 2018, the Education Secretary, Damian Hinds, <u>announced</u> the expansion of careers guidance measures including:

- The number of areas served by networks sharing and developing the best careers advice, supported by the Careers & Enterprise Company, would double from 20 to 40.
- The Government would expand the training places available to support new careers leaders in schools and colleges from 500 to 1300.²⁵

²³ TES, Careers strategy needs funding, says shadow skills minister, 7 December 2017

²⁴ Schools Week, <u>Robert Halfon: Consolidate the UK's 'duplicated' careers services</u>, 4 December 2017

Department for Education, <u>New education and skills measures announced</u>, 2 October 2018

2. How well are schools and colleges discharging their duties?

There has been a considerable amount of scrutiny of the quality of careers advice available to children and young people. This section provides an overview of reports on this topic and recent changes made by the Government.

2.1 Secretary of State's December 2014 statement and announcement of the Careers and Enterprise Company

On 10 December 2014, the then Education Secretary Nicky Morgan made a <u>statement</u> on preparing young people for work.²⁶ She said that it was clear schools and colleges needed "additional support" and outlined additional steps the Government was taking in response, including the establishment of new careers and enterprise company for schools:

It is widely acknowledged that careers provision in schools has long been inadequate. To date, we have encouraged schools and colleges to take the lead. We have placed a clear duty on them to provide students with access to impartial advice and guidance. But, though we published an inspiration vision statement in September 2013 and strengthened the statutory guidance to support schools and colleges in making this vision a reality, it is clear that many schools and colleges need additional support if we are to ensure every young person—regardless of background or location—receives the life-changing advice and inspiration that they need to fulfil their potential and succeed in life. That is a view supported by a number of respected contributors in this area, including OFSTED, the National Careers Council, the Sutton Trust, the Gatsby Foundation and the Education Committee, as well as many employers, sector experts, and schools and colleges themselves. [...]

I have consistently heard calls from both employers and schools and colleges to help them navigate this complex landscape and to spread the good practice that is happening in some parts of the country to all. Today I am answering those calls. I am pleased to tell the House that Christine Hodgson, chair of Capgemini UK and someone with a strong track record of developing young talent, will chair a new careers and enterprise company for schools. This will transform the provision of careers education and advice for young people and inspire them to take control of and shape their own futures.

The company will support much greater engagement between employers on one hand and schools and colleges on the other. It will ensure that young people get the inspiration and guidance they need to leave school or college ready to succeed in working life. It will be employer led, but will work closely with the education and careers sectors. It will also act as an umbrella

organisation to help employers, schools and colleges and other organisations navigate their way through the existing landscape. It will provide a vehicle to help other organisations co-ordinate their activities where appropriate.

The company will not itself be a direct delivery organisation, or act in competition with the many existing providers in the market. Instead, it will help schools, colleges, organisations and employers work together in partnership. The company will focus on the offer to young people, initially those aged 12 to 18. It will work closely with the National Careers Service, which will continue to support adults and young people and help the company to bring employers, schools and colleges together.

See section 4 of this briefing for more information on the Careers and Enterprise Company.

2.2 Education Select Committee report (January 2013)

The Education Select Committee published a report on Careers quidance for young people: The impact of the new duty on schools in January 2013.²⁷ The Committee concluded that the decision to transfer the statutory duty to schools was "regrettable" and that it had "concerns about the consistency, quality, independence and impartiality of careers guidance now being offered to young people." 28

The Committee raised a number of specific concerns and recommendations:

> We heard evidence that there is already a worrying deterioration in the overall level of provision for young people. Urgent steps need to be taken by the Government to ensure that young people's needs are met.

[...]

The quality, independence and impartiality of careers guidance offered to young people was a central concern. To help ensure quality, we recommend that schools are required to work towards the Quality in Careers Standard, and to procure guidance services only from qualified providers and individuals.

There must be accountability measures to ensure that schools provide a good quality careers guidance service for their pupils. [...] 29

The Government's <u>response</u> was published on the Committee's website.30

²⁷ Education Committee, <u>Careers guidance for young people: The impact of the new</u> duty on schools, HC 632-I, Session 2014-15

²⁸ Ibid., p3

²⁹ Ibid., p3-4

³⁰ Education Committee, <u>Careers guidance for young people: The impact of the new</u> duty on schools: Government Response to the Committee's Seventh Report of Session 2012-13, HC 1078

2.3 Education Select Committee: follow-up (January 2015)

The Committee <u>announced</u> a follow-up inquiry into careers guidance on 7 July 2014. The DfE submitted written evidence to the Committee in advance.31 The Committee took oral evidence from the then Secretary of State, Nicky Morgan, on 7 January 2015.

In its report on the work of the Committee during the 2010-15 Parliament, the Education Committee stated:

39. When we returned to this issue a year after the publication of our report, it was clear to us that careers advice in schools was not improving, so we followed up our inquiry with a one-off session with the Secretary of State in January 2015. Drawing on this session, we recommended in our report on apprenticeships that the Government urgently review the incentives for schools to provide good quality careers advice and recognise that the mantra of "trusting schools" does not work when the interests of schools and young people are not aligned. This remains a work in progress and should be high up the agenda in the next Parliament.32

2.4 Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy inquiry (2015-16)

The Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy, formed by members of the Education Committee and the Business, Innovation and Skills Committee, <u>announced</u> an inquiry into careers advice, information and guidance on 8 December 2015.

Report

The Sub-Committee published its report on 5 July 2016. The Sub-Committee stated that it was "very disappointed that careers advice and quidance is still poor in so many schools" 33 and set out several recommendations for its improvement, including:

- Support for the Government's intention to legislate to require schools to collaborate with training providers
- That Ofsted introduce a specific careers guidance judgment, with schools unable to be rated 'Outstanding' overall if they had careers guidance that was rated 'Inadequate' or 'Requires Improvement', and unable to be rated 'Good' if their careers quidance was 'Inadequate'
- The simplification of careers policy delivery at the national level, with a single Minister and a single Department in charge of coordinating careers provision for all ages
- That all Government-funded careers initiatives, including the Jobcentre Plus support for schools scheme, be brought under the

³¹ DfE, <u>Careers guidance follow-up inquiry</u>, <u>Written evidence submitted by the</u> Department for Education, published 3 July 2014

³² Education Committee, Closing the gap: the work of the Education Committee in the 2010–15 Parliament, HC 1120, para 39. Full report on apprenticeships is Apprenticeships and traineeships for 16 to 19 year-olds, HC 597, Session 2014-15

³³ Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy, Careers education, information and guidance, 5 July 2016, HC 205 2016-17, p29

- umbrella of the Careers and Enterprise Company, and that that the Government consult on transferring responsibility for the National Careers Service from the Skills Funding Agency to the Careers & Enterprise Company
- That the Government work with employers and schools to produce a plan to ensure that all students at Key Stage 4 have the opportunity to take part in meaningful work experience.34

Government response

The Government response to the Sub-Committee's report was published on 1 November 2016.

In its response, the Government stated:

- That it would not introduce a separate Ofsted judgment for careers guidance, or to attach careers guidance to ratings as the Committee had recommended:
- Careers guidance had come within the remit of a single Minister at the Department for Education, which offered new opportunities for a coherent approach (this followed changes to the structure of government following Theresa May's appointment as Prime Minister, shortly after the Committee's report was published);
- That the Government would not bring all of its careers initiatives within the remit of the Careers and Enterprise Company, and would retain the distinct status of other careers bodies;
- That while a traditional 'work experience' placement may be of greatest benefit to many pupils at Key Stage 4, it may not be appropriate for meeting the individual needs of all pupils, and that schools choose what is most appropriate.³⁵

The Committee Co-Chairs, Neil Carmichael and Iain Wright, expressed their disappointment at the report, and said Ministers were "burying their heads in the sand" about the quality of careers provision.³⁶

The Sub-Committee expressed particular concern about the Government's decisions not to adopt their recommendations about Ofsted judgments and bringing all careers provision within the remit of the Careers and Enterprise Company, and also "that the careers strategy long-promised by Government has still not been produced." 37

2.5 National Careers Council Report (June 2013)

As part of the reforms to careers education, the previous Government established the National Careers Council (NCC) in May 2012 to advise it

³⁴ Ibid., p29-32

³⁵ Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy, <u>Careers education</u>, information, advice and guidance: Government Response to the First Joint Report of the Business, Innovation and Skills and Education Committees of Session 2016–17, 1 November 2016, HC 757 2016-17

Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy, Government inaction on careers provision failings is unacceptable, 1 November 2016

on careers provision for young people in England. The NCC published their report, An Aspirational Nation, in June 2013.38 On schools, it said:

2.28 The decision to place a statutory duty on schools and colleges to provide independent and impartial careers advice is significant and will involve a period of transition. [...]

2.29 A key factor in schools and colleges meeting their new statutory duties will be their ability to secure access to independent careers guidance for their pupils. They will also need to build skills and capacity in their workforce, learn from best practice, and access reliable labour market information – in addition to helping broaden young people's aspirations and help them develop character, career adaptability and resilience. [...] [W]e note current schools policies and practices are patchy and inconsistent.

[...]

2.31 The Council believes that in order to provide young people (and their parents) with effective career support, schools and colleges should:

- Ensure that all students understand the range of career routes open to them and how to access information necessary to underpin informed choices
- Make available face-to-face guidance to all pupils from Year 8 onwards
- Have strong links with employers who are able to contribute to pupils' education by raising their awareness and giving insights about the range of careers open to them
- Have access to high-quality and up-to-date labour market intelligence (LMI) and information about all education and vocational education training routes pre- and post-16
- Help young people develop competences to be able to transfer their knowledge and skills, be resilient and adaptable within changing sectors and economies
- Work with parents to raise awareness about career routes and to challenge stereotypes
- Have access to quality-assured careers providers and professionally qualified career development professionals to provide face-to-face guidance
- Ensure that all leavers have a planned progression route
- Integrate career management skills into a broad and balanced curriculum.

2.32 A major barrier to providing high quality careers guidance to young people has been the absence of direct links between the National Careers Service and schools. [...] 39

The report called for closer links between the National Careers Service, schools, colleges and other providers, and the formation of a strategic

³⁸ National Careers Council, <u>An Aspirational Nation: Creating a culture change in</u> careers provision, Pps 21-22

National Careers Council, An Aspirational Nation: Creating a culture change in careers provision, Pps 21-22

body with representation from these providers to guide the work of the NCS.

2.6 Ofsted comment 2013-16 and inspection framework

Ofsted inspection framework

Ofsted carries out routine inspections of maintained and academy schools (and some other providers) in line with the current framework for school inspection.

The most recent school inspection framework, effective since September 2018, states that inspectors should assess careers guidance. Inspectors would consider how well:

learners receive high quality impartial careers guidance that prepares them for their chosen next steps and enables them to make well-informed decisions about their future plans. 40

Thematic review and Government response (2013)

In September 2013 Ofsted published a thematic review, Going in the right direction? Careers guidance in schools from September 2012.41 This reported that careers guidance in schools was not working well enough, with only one-fifth of the schools visited being "effective in ensuring that all [...] students in Years 9, 10 and 11⁴² were receiving the level of information, advice and guidance they needed to support decision-making." 43

The report also raised concerns about the breadth of information and guidance students in the surveyed schools were typically given:

The information students received about careers was too narrow. Too many students were unaware of the wide range of occupations and careers that they might consider. About half the schools used their own staff to inform students about careers but these staff often had insufficient training and did not provide students with up-to-date information.

Schools did not work well enough with employers to provide their students with direct experience of the world of work, which would help to broaden students' minds about possible future employment. Vocational training and apprenticeships were rarely promoted effectively, especially in schools with sixth forms. The Alevel route to universities remained the 'gold standard' for young people, their parents and teachers.44

In September 2013, the Government published its <u>response</u> to Ofsted's thematic review in the form of an 'action plan' for careers education.⁴⁵ This also incorporated the Government's response to the National Careers Council's earlier report (see previous section).

⁴⁰ Ofsted, <u>School Inspection Framework</u>, September 2018, p69

⁴¹ Ofsted, *Going in the right direction? Careers guidance in schools from September 2012*, September 2013

The thematic review was carried out when the duty only extended to pupils in school years 9-11.

⁴³ *Ibid.*, Pp. 5

⁴⁴ *bid.*, Pp. 4

⁴⁵ DfE/ BIS, <u>Careers Guidance Action Plan</u>, September 2013

Sir Michael Wilshaw comment (2015)

In evidence to the Education Committee in September 2015, HM Chief Inspector Sir Michael Wilshaw described careers guidance as a "disaster area" in schools.46

Getting Ready for Work report (2016)

A November 2016 Ofsted report on enterprise education and workrelated learning, Getting Ready for Work, described "limited" chances for children "to take part in meaningful work-related learning or work experience" at key stage 4. The report also stated that a poorly-coordinated, "chaotic" environment often existed locally, with projects such as those sponsored by local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) in their infancy and business leaders reporting that there was:

little coherence to provision and a lack of strategy by government, business organisations or individual schools. [Business leaders] were largely unaware of the work of the Careers and Enterprise Company. School-business links were most productive when they were official and between organisations, rather than informal and between individuals. Relationships were often hampered by poor communication between school and business staff and a lack of clarity over what was wanted from the partnership. 47

2.7 British Chambers of Commerce survey (November 2015)

In November 2015 the British Chambers of Commerce (BCC) published the results of a survey stating that 69% of businesses did not believe that secondary schools properly prepared children for the world of work.

The announcement stated that there is "a mismatch between education leaders and businesspeople when it comes to careers guidance. Eight out of ten secondary schools believe they are effective at offering all types of careers guidance. However, all businesses surveyed thought careers guidance needs reform."

The survey stated employers had made the following recommendations for reform:

Embed key skills for work in the curriculum. The top five entry level skills that firms value most are communication (88%), literacy (69%), numeracy (64%), computer literacy (56%) and teamwork (53%).

Hold lessons around recruitment and interview techniques. Most businesspeople think schools should teach students how to conduct themselves in an interview (78%), demonstrate transferable skills (54%) and communicate lessons learned from work experience (46%).

Put direct contact with local businesses at the heart of careers guidance. Firms think careers advice should include

Education Committee, The Work of Ofsted, 16 September 2015, HC 400, Session 2015-16, Q26

Ofsted, Getting Ready for Work, November 2016, p4-5

workplace experiences (64%), encounters with employers and employees (62%), and link curriculum learning to careers (45%). 48

2.8 City and Guilds report (November 2015)

In November 2015, City and Guilds published research on the career aspirations of teenagers and the realities of the job market. The report, <u>Great Expectations</u>, raised concerns of a bias towards university education amongst parents and educators:

Our research indicated that there is a widespread belief that studying for a degree will lead to a well-paid job and fulfilling professional career and whilst in many cases this is true it isn't always the case. This misconception has led to a significant oversupply of graduates in the UK with a recent piece of research by the CIPD stating that 58.5% of graduates end up in non-graduate iobs.49

The report also noted low prestige for careers advice amongst young people:

Our research also indicates that careers advice is not seen as important by young people. Just 5% said that a careers advisor would help the most in getting a job they would be satisfied with and when asked why they were thinking of a certain career, only 14% said that a careers advisor had recommended it. Respondents were also unable to recognise that good careers advice can help secure a great job. Only 8% of those surveyed agreed that a lack of good careers advice is a barrier to getting a good job. 50

The managing director of City and Guilds, Kirstie Donnelly, discussed the report in a TES article.⁵¹

2.9 DfE research brief: mapping careers provision in England

In July 2015 the DfE published a research brief Mapping careers provision in schools and colleges in England, which provides information from a survey on the type of careers guidance they provide. 52

2.10 All-Party Parliamentary Group report (January 2017)

In January 2017, the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Social Mobility published its report *The class ceiling: Increasing access to the leading* professions, which raised concerns about careers advice at school and university. The report described the quality of careers advice as "too

⁴⁸ British Chambers of Commerce, <u>BCC: Businesses and schools 'still worlds apart' on</u> readiness for work, 11 November 2015

⁴⁹ City and Guilds, <u>Great Expectations</u>, 30 November 2015, p10

⁵⁰ Ibid., p11

⁵¹ TES, Opinion: Why young people need alternatives to university, 30 November 2015

⁵² Department for Education, <u>Mapping careers provision in schools and colleges in</u> England, July 2015

varied, leaving young people unaware about steps to build a career especially in the most selective professions." 53

2.11 Gatsby Foundation report: international comparisons

Some comparative information is available through a 2014 report published by the Gatsby Foundation, Good Career Guidance, which discussed best practice in careers guidance and included visits to six foreign states or countries – Netherlands, Germany, Hong Kong, Ontario, Finland, and Ireland.

Appendix 1 (pages 3-44) to the report sets out the results of these visits, and the relevant systems in place.

This report also included the development of the 'benchmarks' that have since been adopted by the Government as parts of its Careers Strategy (see section 1.6).

2.12 Careers and Enterprise Company: State of the Nation 2018

The Careers and Enterprise Company published a State of the Nation <u>report</u> in November 2018, which sought to evaluate current careers education in England.

The report found that on average schools and colleges are achieving 2.13 of the eight Gatsby Benchmarks (listed on page 8 of this briefing) compared to 1.87 the previous year and 1.34 in 2014.

It added that "when we look at sub-benchmarks (the components that make up each of the benchmarks), on average schools and colleges are 51% of the way to achieving all eight benchmarks."

18.1% of schools and colleges were not achieving any benchmarks. 54

⁵³ All-Party Parliamentary Group on Social Mobility, *The class ceiling: Increasing access* to the leading professions, January 2017, p9

⁵⁴ Careers and Enterprise Company, <u>State of the Nation 2018</u>, November 2018, pll

3. Careers guidance in higher education

There are no statutory requirements around the provision of careers advice in higher education institutions (HEIs). Regardless of this careers advice and guidance is an important student service offered by all higher education institutions (HEIs). HEIs are autonomous bodies and all HEIs have their own careers service staffed by professionals who are trained in this area. The Association of Graduate Careers Advisory Services (AGCAS) is a professional association for HE careers practitioners, it provides advice to members and aims to develop best practice across the sector.

University careers offices offer a wide range of services such as: careers advice, help with writing CVs and application forms, interview skills and networking/mentoring opportunities. HEIs careers offices may also arrange campus career fairs where employers can meet graduates. Many university careers centres continue to provide support to their graduates years after graduating.

A significant number of university degree courses now include employability skills and some include compulsory careers sessions. Many institutions also offer extra-curricular schemes to help students to develop the 'soft skills' which are valued by employers – some of these schemes lead to awards which students can include in their CVs.

Since autumn 2012 universities have had to supply information on destinations and salaries of their recent graduates as part of their Key <u>Information Set</u> – this information allows prospective students to compare institutions by employability rates of graduates. Also the annual survey of <u>Destination of Leavers from Higher Education</u> (DLHE) collects data on employment of graduates and university league tables use employability rates in their rankings. The availability of data on employability and graduate destinations makes the provision of good careers advice beneficial for both students and universities.

In 2012 university tuition fees were raised and since then there has been an increased focus on the value of higher education and in particular on employment outcomes of higher education.

In 2016 the Government introduced a new process for assessing the quality of teaching in HEIs - the Teaching Excellence and Student Outcomes Framework (TEF). In the second year of the TEF HEIs were awarded a teaching quality assessment based on a set of metrics; two of the core metrics were employment measures. Following a lessons learned exercise after year two of the TEF two new employment measures will be added to future TEF assessments using information from the Longitudinal Education Outcomes (LEO) data. LEO data charts the transition of graduates from higher education into the workplace.

Reports from bodies such as the Social Mobility Commission have indicated that students from widening participation backgrounds have more difficulty accessing graduate jobs than graduates from better-off backgrounds.⁵⁵ The Careers Strategy document referred to evidence which suggests that 'undergraduates from disadvantaged backgrounds are less likely to use university careers services relative to their advantaged peers'.⁵⁶ The Careers Strategy therefore recommends that HEIs do more to encourage students from disadvantaged backgrounds to use their career services:

We will ask the Director of Fair Access and Participation and the Office for Students to expect higher education institutions to do more to make sure that students from disadvantaged backgrounds make best use of their university careers services. This may include offering mentors, access to alumni networks or specialist careers outreach programmes.⁵⁷

⁵⁵ Social Mobility Commission, <u>Unpaid internships are damaging to social mobility</u>, 23 October 2017

Department for Education, <u>Careers strategy: making the most of everyone's skills</u> and talents, December 2017 p26 para 74

4. Key organisations

4.1 National Careers Service

The National Careers Service (NCS), launched in April 2012, 58 provides people over 13 years old with information, advice and guidance on learning, training and work opportunities. The service offers confidential and impartial advice, supported by qualified careers advisers. NCS services may be provided face-to-face, via telephone or online.

The NCS website states that it aims to:

- help people with careers decisions and planning
- support people in reviewing their skills and abilities and develop new goals
- motivate people to implement their plan of action
- enable people to make the best use of high quality career related tools.

In December 2014, the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills published its third National Careers Service Satisfaction and Progression Surveys Annual Report. This includes the following overview of customer satisfaction with the service:

Customers continue to rate the service very highly. Overall 94% of face-to-face and telephone customers agreed that the service was good; and 85% were satisfied overall, with 41% very satisfied. While high, these figures have not changed significantly compared with results in Year 1 and Year 2. Face-to-face customers, those in learning at the time of their adviser sessions and those aged under 25 continue to be more satisfied than average.

Overall 78% of website users in Year 3 were satisfied with the website overall, with 41% very satisfied, and 6% dissatisfied. Satisfaction has increased from Year 2 when 76% were satisfied and 39% very satisfied. Women and under 25s were more satisfied than average.⁵⁹

The DfE's <u>Careers Strategy</u> (see section 1.6) includes a new, improved National Careers Service website by the end of 2020.60

Economic Evaluation of the NCS

An economic evaluation of the NCS, commissioned by the Department for Education, was published in March 2017.

The evaluation "could not identify a positive impact of the National Careers Service on employment or benefit dependency outcomes," but did "identify a relatively strong positive effect in relation to education and training." 61

⁵⁸ Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, <u>New National Careers Service</u> launched, 5 April 2012

⁵⁹ BIS, National Careers Service Satisfaction and Progression Surveys Annual Report, December 2014, p5

Department for Education, Careers strategy, December 2017, p9

⁶¹ Department for Education, <u>An economic evaluation of the National Careers Service</u>, March 2017, p31

4.2 Careers and Enterprise Company

A Department for Education <u>press notice</u> published on 10 December 2014 provided details on the Careers and Enterprise Company (CEC) announced in Nicky Morgan's statement of that date (see section 2.1). To summarise, the CEC is designed to broker partnerships between schools, Further Education colleges and employers in order to give pupils aged 12 to 18 better access to advice and inspiration in finding a career.

The <u>CEC's website</u> provides further information on its work. The CEC plays a significant role in the DfE's Careers Strategy (see section 1.6 of this briefing).

Enterprise Advisers

The CEC website provides information on its network of <u>'Enterprise Advisers'</u>, developed with <u>Local Enterprise Partnerships</u>:

We are building a network of Enterprise Advisers to work directly with the leadership of individual schools and colleges. These volunteers, drawn from business and other employers, large and small will help to develop effective employer engagement plans.

Clusters of schools and colleges and Enterprise Advisers will be supported by a full time Enterprise Coordinator.

Parliamentary debate and Education Committee session

In an <u>evidence session</u> with the Commons Education Select Committee in January 2015, the then Education Secretary provided information on the funding of the CEC, and its relationship with the National Careers Service:

[In response to Q33]

Nicky Morgan: The Chancellor has set aside £20 million for the first two years, to get things up and running [for the new Careers and Enterprise Company]. As employers are involved, my intention is that eventually it will be self-sustaining. Costs will be relatively limited on the basis that advisors will be approached, but a lot of companies and organisations do that anyway, particularly larger employers.

[...]

[In response to Q46, on difference between the new company and NCS]

Nicky Morgan: First, I do not think [schools and employers] are confused [about the respective functions of the two NCS and CEC]. Secondly, I think the NCS and the new company are doing different things. The company, as we have discussed, is very much employer-led, and I think that is not the case with the NCS. The NCS also focuses particularly on a number of priority groups. I want the new company to be very much about going into schools, with a particular focus on 12 to 18-year-olds. The NCS is an all-age service, although of course they will particularly focus on some younger people and lowskilled adults without a level 3

qualification, as well as NEETs, as we have already discussed, and adults facing redundancy. 62

Sutton Trust report recommendation

In February 2016, the Sutton Trust published its most recent update on the educational background of people at the top of professions in the UK, which as in previous years highlighted that the UK's top professions remain disproportionately populated by alumni of private schools and Oxbridge, despite these educating only a small minority of the population.

In its recommendations on social mobility, the Trust suggested the CEC might be given a broader remit and further resources to conduct trials into effective careers advice for disadvantaged children:

Good careers education is essential for young people from all backgrounds. We welcome the establishment of the Careers and Enterprise Company (CEC) and its development of Careers and Enterprise Coordinators to join-up careers education between schools and businesses in local areas. The CEC should also be resourced and encouraged to trial and identify what works in careers advice for disadvantaged pupils. 63

⁶² Education Committee, Oral evidence: Careers guidance for young people: follow-up, HC 333, 7 January 2015

Sutton Trust, Leading People 2016: The educational backgrounds of the UK professional elite, February 2016, p5

About the Library

The House of Commons Library research service provides MPs and their staff with the impartial briefing and evidence base they need to do their work in scrutinising Government, proposing legislation, and supporting constituents.

As well as providing MPs with a confidential service we publish open briefing papers, which are available on the Parliament website.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publically available research briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to reflect subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email <u>papers@parliament.uk</u>. Authors are available to discuss the content of this briefing only with Members and their staff.

If you have any general questions about the work of the House of Commons you can email hcinfo@parliament.uk.

Disclaimer

This information is provided to Members of Parliament in support of their parliamentary duties. It is a general briefing only and should not be relied on as a substitute for specific advice. The House of Commons or the author(s) shall not be liable for any errors or omissions, or for any loss or damage of any kind arising from its use, and may remove, vary or amend any information at any time without prior notice.

The House of Commons accepts no responsibility for any references or links to, or the content of, information maintained by third parties. This information is provided subject to the <u>conditions of the Open Parliament Licence</u>.